
1 Title 18, U.S.C. §1953 states, in pertinent part: “(a) Whoever, except a common carrier
in the usual course of its business, knowingly carries or sends in interstate or foreign commerce
any record, paraphernalia, ticket, certificate, bills, slip, token, paper, writing, or other device
used, or to be used, or adapted, devised or designed for use in (a) bookmaking; or (b) wagering
pools with respect to a sporting event; or (c) in a numbers, policy, bolita, or similar game [has
committed an offense].”

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI

EASTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, ) No.  4:06CR00337 CEJ/MLM
v. )

)
BETONSPORTS PLC, et al., )

)
Defendants. )

____________________________________)

UNITED STATES RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT GARY KAPLAN’S
MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT 13 OF THE SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

The United States, through counsel undersigned, hereby responds to defendant Gary

Kaplan’s motion to dismiss (Doc. #448) Count 13 of the Superseding Indictment, which alleges

a violation of Title 18, United States Code, §1953 (the “Gambling Paraphernalia Act” or “the

Act”), which prohibits the interstate transportation of gambling paraphernalia.1  The defendant’s

objections to this charge are not supported in law or in fact, and the defendant’s motion should

be denied.

I. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE SUPERSEDING
INDICTMENT IS INSUFFICIENT ON ITS FACE

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b) requires that a motion alleging a defect in an

indictment be raised prior to trial, while allowing a claim that the indictment fails to allege an
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2 “The following must be raised before trial: (B) a motion alleging a defect in the
indictment or information – but at any time while case is pending, the court may hear a claim
that the indictment or information fails to invoke the court’s jurisdiction or to state an offense.”

2

offense or engage the court’s jurisdiction to be raised at any time.2  As stated by the Eighth

Circuit Court of Appeals (quoting Hagner v. United States, 285 U.S. 427, 431, 52 S.Ct. 417 ,

419, 76 L.Ed.2d 861 (1932):

The true test of the sufficiency of an indictment is not whether it could have been
made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the elements of the
offense intended to be charged, and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he
must be prepared to meet, and, in case any other proceedings are taken against
him for a similar offense, whether the record shows with accuracy to what extent
he may plead a former acquittal or conviction.

United States v. Goldberg, 225 F.2d 180, 184 (8th Cir. 1955); see also United States v. Carter,

270 F.3d 731, 736 (8th Cir. 2001).  

Rule 7(c) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure states that an indictment “must be a

plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense

charged.”  

The sufficiency of an indictment should be judged by practical, and not by
technical, considerations.  It is nothing but the formal charge upon which an
accused is brought to trial.  An indictment which fairly informs the accused of the
charge which he is required to meet and which is sufficiently specific to avoid the
danger of his again being prosecuted for the same offense should be held good.

Hanf v. United States, 235 F.2d 710, 714 (8th Cir. 1956). 

II. COMPUTERS AND SOFTWARE ALLEGED IN COUNT 13 ARE
GAMBLING PARAPHERNALIA WITHIN THE MEANING OF §1953

Count 13 of the Superseding Indictment charges the defendant and others with knowingly

transporting laptop computers and software used in the operations of the Gambling Enterprise

across state lines.  The defendant claims that the terms “laptop computers and software” are too
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3 Title 18, United States Code, §1952, generally known as the Travel Act.

3

generic to fall within the ambit of the Act.  However, the Act itself is generic, its listing of

potential paraphernalia including “ticket,” “writing,” and “paper.”  It is not the identification of a

tangible object that determines whether it is gambling paraphernalia, it is the use to which the

object is put. 

For example, in United States v. Fabrizio, 385 U.S. 263, 268, 87 S.Ct. 457, 460, 17

L.Ed.2d 351 (1966), the Supreme Court considered the application of the Gambling

Paraphernalia Act to lottery receipts for the New Hampshire Sweepstakes, a legal State gambling

enterprise.  The defense urged the Court to limit the Act to items used in illegal gambling

operations only.  In refusing to do so, the Court noted that there was no basis in the statute for

such an exclusion, and stated: “Exemption would also defeat one of the principal purposes of

section 1953, aiding the States in the suppression of gambling where such gambling is contrary

to state policy.”  The Court, relying on the Government’s assertion that it would prove the

receipts had actually been provided to gamblers by the defendants, reinstated the §1953

indictment that had been dismissed by the trial court.      

The defendant cites to Erlenbaugh v. United States, 409 U.S. 239, 93 S.Ct. 477, 34

L.Ed.2d 446 (1972), in support of his narrow reading of the Act.  However, in Erlenbaugh, the

Court simply refused to read §§19523 and 1953 in pari materia, noting that the Travel Act had a

general purpose, and the Gambling Paraphernalia Act one more specific in nature.  The Court did

not adopt nor advocate a narrow interpretation of the types of objects whose interstate

transportation might be prohibited under the Act.  The Court merely noted that the Gambling

Paraphernalia Act is more narrowly purposed than the Travel Act.
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4 This decision is unreported, and is therefore not precedent.  8th Cir. Rule 32.1A. 
Further, on appeal by the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue, the Third Circuit Court
reversed, finding that, under amended 18 U.S.C. §1301, Pic-A-State’s activities were in violation
of federal law prohibiting the interstate transportation of lottery tickets.  Pic-A-State PA, Inc. v.
Com. of Pa., 42 F.3d 175 (3rd Cir. 1994).  In a subsequent case, Pic-A-State PA, Inc. v. Reno, 76
F.3d 1294, 1302 (3rd Cir. 1996), the plaintiff claimed that 18 U.S.C. §1301 was unconstitutional
under the Commerce Clause.  In finding the statute an appropriate exercise of Congress’s power
to regulate commerce, the Court stated: “. . . the right of a State to regulate lottery [sic] and
gambling within its borders must be preserved.  Federal gambling laws have traditionally
enabled States to regulate in-State gambling.  Federal laws should continue to limit the
proliferation of interstate gambling to preserve the sovereignty of States that do not permit
certain forms of gambling.” (quoting Senator Arlen Specter, interior citations omitted).

4

The defendant cites to Pic-A-State, PA, Inc. v. Com. of Pa., 1993 WL 325539 (M.D. Pa.

1993)4, for the proposition that criminal statutes should be strictly construed.  In Pic-A-State, the

district court issued a declaratory judgment finding a Pennsylvania State statute prohibiting the

operation of out-of-state gambling operations within Pennsylvania a violation of the Commerce

Clause.  The Pic-A-State court examined the State’s claims that the Pic-A-State operation was

also in violation of several federal statutes, including Title 18, U.S.C. §§ 1084, 1301 and 1953. 

The court ruled that it was not, because Pic-A-State did not use interstate communications

facilities to place bets or make pay outs.  This case does not support the defendant’s claim

regarding the scope of the Gambling Paraphernalia Act.

The defendant cites to United States v. Mendelsohn, 896 F.2d 1183 (9th Cir. 1990), in

support of his claim.  That decision concerned the application of §1953 to a computer program

called the “Sports Office Accounting Program,” or “SOAP.”  The Court held that, while

computer code could be “speech” for First Amendment purposes, SOAP was not entitled to First

Amendment protection because it was an integral part of a bookmaker’s illegal activity.  In its

decision, the Ninth Circuit Court examined the defendants’ claim that interpretation of §1953 is
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5 “Ejusdem generis - Latin - ‘of the same kind or class’ - a canon of construction . . .”
Black’s Law Dictionary (8th ed. 2004).

5

subject to ejusdem generis,5 which would require that the items listed in the Act be limited to the

same general categories.  The Court rejected this argument, finding that the items listed prior to

“device” (SOAP was ruled to be a “device”) in the Act were equally general and non-specific in

nature.  The Court stated that “Congress employed broad language to ‘permit law enforcement to

keep pace with the latest developments . . .’ because organized crime has shown ‘great ingenuity

in avoiding the law.’ S. Rep. No. 589, 87th Cong., lst Sess., p.3.”  Mendelsohn, 896 F.2d at 1187.

Defendant Gary Kaplan conflates the narrow construction generally accorded to penal

statutes with an unjustifiable narrowing of the terms used by Congress to reach a law

enforcement goal.  The strict application of penal statutes cannot be employed to defeat the

purpose of the law.  See United States v. Wiltberger, 18 U.S. 76, 95-96, 5 L.Ed. 37 (1820): “The

maxim is not to be so applied as to narrow the words of the statute to the exclusion of cases

which those words, in their ordinary acceptation, or in that sense in which the legislature has

obviously used them, would comprehend.”

In his parsing of the Act, the defendant has misconstrued the phrase that modifies the

term “device.”  Specifically, “used, or to be used, or adapted, devised, or designed for use in”

gambling.  Certainly, a piece of paper not “used, or to be used, or adapted, devised, or designed

for use in” gambling would not fall within the Act.  And just as certainly, paper that is used in

gambling does.  It cannot be possible that computers and software are more generic than plain

paper.  If the defendant’s argument is accepted, any item that could be used for any purpose

other than gambling, such as paper, or a writing, or other items specifically listed in the Act,
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could never be considered gambling paraphernalia.   

III. COUNT 13 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT’S RIGHT TO FREE
SPEECH

The defendant claims that Count 13 must be dismissed because the laptop computers and

software used in the Gambling Enterprise qualify as protected “speech” under the First

Amendment.  Assuming that computer software is protected by the First Amendment, that

protection does not extend to its use to commit crimes.  As noted in United States v.

Mendelsohn, 896 F.2d 1183, 1185 (9th Cir. 1990), “[t]his is not a situation in which Defendants

were addressing themselves, for example, to the unfairness of state or federal gambling laws. . . .

Where speech becomes an integral part of the crime, a First Amendment defense is foreclosed

even if the prosecution rests on words alone.”  

The defendant claims that the United States must allege that the computers and software

described in Count 13 were not being used to merely advocate a position, rather than as an

integral component of criminal conduct.  First, the United States is not required to plead around

an affirmative defense when charging a crime: “As a general rule, it is the defendant’s burden to

prove as an affirmative defense that his conduct fell within the legislative exception, and there

was no necessity for the indictment to allege that it was not.”  United States v. Cartano, 534 F.2d

788, 791 (8th Cir. 1976).  Second, the charge in Count 13 states that the items were “used, and to

be used and adapted, devised and designed for use in bookmaking.”  This allegation clearly takes

the activity out of the realm of speech protected by the First Amendment.  
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IV. COUNT 13 PROVIDES ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE CRIME CHARGED

The defendant claims that the Superseding Indictment is deficient because it does not

describe why the laptop computers and software are gambling paraphernalia.  This is not a

deficiency, because the question of how the computers and software were used is a matter for

proof at trial, and need not be alleged in an indictment.  As stated in United States v. Glup, 482

F.2d 1288, 1290 (8th Cir. 1973), a case involving the adequacy of an indictment alleging illegal

gun dealing:

[A]ppellant points out that he is not informed by the indictment whether he is to
be tried as a seller of ‘bombs and grenades; rockets or missiles,’ or as a
‘pawnbroker.’  Such arguments, if accepted, would have no end as we proceeded
next to what kind of a bomb was meant, or what was the category of missile or
rocket.  This is not to say that such questions may not be material.  But what we
must distinguish, in the issue before us, are those matters constitutionally
essential from those informative only.

Further, the defendant does not indicate how he is prejudiced by the alleged lack of

information in the Superseding Indictment.  The defendant has sufficient information to prepare

a defense to Count 13, and to put the Government to its proof at trial.  The defendant can seek

witnesses who will testify on his behalf regarding the Gambling Enterprise’s use (or non-use) of

laptop computers and software; he may seek records to demonstrate that there were no laptop

computers or software associated with the Gambling Enterprise in Florida, or Missouri on the

dates charged; he can seek expert opinions regarding the uses of laptop computers and software

in Internet gambling.  In other words, the defendant is not prejudiced by the alleged lack of

specificity in Count 13 of the Superseding Indictment.
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V. CONCLUSION    

It is up to the Government to present proof at trial that the computers and software

charged in Count 13 were used in gambling, and thus subject to the Gambling Paraphernalia Act. 

Until the Government’s evidence is thus tested, however, Count 13 of the Superseding

Indictment is not subject to dismissal, and the defendant’s motion should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,

MICHAEL W. REAP
Acting United States Attorney

/s/ Michael K. Fagan                                                 
MICHAEL K. FAGAN, #6617
Assistant United States Attorney
111 South 10th Street, Room 20.333
St. Louis, Missouri  63102
(314) 539-2200

/s/ Steven A. Muchnick                                               
STEVEN A. MUCHNICK, #3905
Assistant United States Attorney
111 South 10th Street, Room 20.333
St. Louis, Missouri  63102
(314) 539-2200

/s/ Marty Woelfle                                                       
MARTY WOELFLE, AZ #009363
Trial Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
Organized Crime & Racketeering Section
1301 New York Ave., Room 705
Washington, D.C. 2005
(202) 353-2373
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on October 5, 2007, the foregoing was filed  with the Clerk of the
Court to be served by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system upon the following:

Paul D’Agrosa
Law Offices of Wolff & D’Agrosa
[DME Global Mktg. & Fulfillment; 
Direct Mail Expertise, Inc.; 
Mobile Promotions, Inc.]

Tim Evans
Evans, Grady, Daniel & Moore
[David Carruthers]

N. Scott Rosenblum
Adam Fein
Gilbert Sison
Rosenblum, Schwartz, Rogers & Glass
[David Carruthers]

Brian Steel
The Steel Law Firm
[Neil Kaplan]

Susan S. Kister
Susan S. Kister, P.C. 
[Neil Kaplan]

Steve LaCheen
Anne M. Dixon
LaCheen Dixon Wittels & Greenberg LLP
[Tim Brown]

Alan Ross
Robbins, Tunkey, Ross, Amsel, Raben,
   Waxman & Eiglarsh, PA
[William Hernan Lenis]

Burton H. Shostak
Moline, Shostak & Mehan, LLC
[William Luis Lenis]

J. David Bogenschutz
Bogenschutz, Dutko & Kroll, P.A.
[Monica Lenis]

Rick Sindel
Sindel Sindel & Noble, PC
[Manny Gustavo Lenis]

Robert Katzberg  
Kaplan & Katzberg
[Lori Kaplan Multz]

James F. Bennett, Esq.
Edward Dowd, Esq.
Robert F. Epperson, Jr.
[Lori Kaplan Multz]

Dick DeGuerin
DeGuerin Dickson & Hennessy
[Gary Kaplan]

Chris Flood
Flood & Flood
[Gary Kaplan]

Barry A. Short
Evan Z. Reid
Steven D. Hall
Lewis, Rice & Fingersh, LC
[Gary Kaplan]

Samuel J. Buffone
Ryan M. Malone
Ropes & Gray LLP
[Gary Kaplan]
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Jeffrey T. Demerath
Armstrong Teasdale LLP
[BETONSPORTS PLC]

Jonathan Bach        
Cooley Godward Kronish, LLP
[BETONSPORTS PLC]

Michael J. Rosen
Michael J. Rosen, PA
[Penelope Tucker]

Larry Hale
The Hale Law Firm
[Penelope Tucker]

/s/       Marty Woelfle                                      
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